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Connecting 
families
Spacetalk is the developer of a technology platform 
providing child safety and development tools to  
support wellness. 

We provide to families the tools experience the benefits 
and wonders of smart mobile technology while 
maintaining control and security. 

COMPANY SNAPSHOT

5,231
of 10,000 steps

Fall detected

See you soon XX ��

Price

Spacetalk Strategy

Placement

Product

HARDWARE

•	 New devices

•	 New price points

SOFTWARE

•	 New services

•	 New features

•	 Eco-system 
enhancements

TILT PRICE CURVE

•	 Increase contribution 
of recurring revenues

•	 New services (eg 
JumpySIM)

•	 New paid in-app 
services

•	 Reduce upfront cost 
of wearables

ADD NEW DISTRIBUTION
•	 New geographies

•	 Within existing 
geographies

OPTIMISE EXISTING 
DISTRIBUTION
•	 Benchmarking peer 

performance

•	 Improve margins and ROI

•	 Improvement to overall 
share of category

PROFITABLE 
GROWTH

•	 Accelerate pathway to 
cashflow positivity

•	 Enhance operating 
efficiencies

•	 Strategic awareness 
and brand building

Profit
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 $20.7m

Group: Record performance, attributable to strong 
Device sales + App revenue 

FY2022 Financial Highlights

FY2021

FY2022

FY2020

FY2019

4 Year CAGR1 : 31%

Q4Q3Q2Q1

FY2022 Group Revenue ($m)

GROUP REVENUE

+37.1% pcp FY2021: $15.1m

1 CAGR = Compound Annual Growth Rate. 

COMPANY SNAPSHOT
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WEARABLES REVENUE

 $18.3m
+44% pcp FY2021: $12.9m

SCHOOLS REVENUE

 $2.4m
+8% pcp FY2021: $2.2m

SERVICES REVENUE
(SCHOOLS + APP)

 $5.8m
+32% pcp FY2021: $4.4m

$-

4Q19
1Q

20
2Q20

3Q20
4Q20

1Q
21

2Q21
3Q21

4Q21
1Q

22
2Q22

3Q22
4Q22

$2

$4

$6

$8

$10

$12

$14

$16

$18

$20

$5.6m AT 30 JUN 2022CASH AT BANK

COMPANY SNAPSHOT

 $12.4m
+33% pcp

52% Growth

FY2021: $9.4m

GROSS PROFIT

ROLLING 12 MONTH REVENUES TOTAL WEARABLES 
REVENUES

4Q FY21

Device Revenue App Revenue

1.6

0.7

4Q FY22

2.5

1.0
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REVENUE

$18.3m +44% pcp
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FY2022 Wearables Summary

 $14.9m

 $3.8m

 $3.4m

 $2.1m

+41% pcp FY2021: $10.6m

+41% pcp FY2021 : $2.7m

+55% pcp FY2021 : $2.2m

40% pcp fy2021 $1.5m

1. ARR = Annualised Recurring Revenue from Spacetalk App monthly subscriptions. 
It is calculated by multiplying June app revenues by 12.

YEAR IN REVIEW

DEVICE SALES

APP ARR1

APP REVENUE

MARKETING  
EXPENDITURE

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



9

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

Chairman’s Letter
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
and management, I am pleased to 
present the Spacetalk Ltd. Annual 
Report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2022. 

It is a pleasure to be writing this, my first letter to you as Chairman. 
I come into this role at an exciting time. Spacetalk is a growth 
company with significant opportunities before it. 

The 2022 financial year was an important and transformational 
year. During the year, revenues increased by 37% to $20.7 
million. This was the first-time in the Company’s history that 
annual revenues exceeded $20 million. This revenue growth 
was underpinned by a great product suite and expanded global 
distribution footprint which now includes Australia, New Zealand, 
the United Kingdom, the United States, Canada, Norway, 
Denmark, Sweden, and Finland.

FY2022 also noted that $5.8 million (28%) of Spacetalk’s revenues 
being generated from recurring non-device sales (App fee and 
schools business revenue). This is consistent with the Company’s 
strategy to increase the contribution of recurring revenues. With 
the addition of our JumpySIM, our emerging mobile network 
service to our business portfolio, recurring revenues are expected 
to further increase.

Your Board knows that the performance of any publicly listed 
business is supported by its governance platform, and we 
remain committed to enhancing this platform including through 
strengthening disclosures and regulatory compliance. The Board 
has already commenced actions given the considerable potential 
and growth trajectory of the business.

In addition, and as previously stated, Spacetalk is determined 
to accelerate its pathway to cashflow positivity. Spacetalk has 
adapted and refined its strategy to focus on a targeted quest 
for profitable growth, strategic awareness, and brand building. 
This will be reflected through future capital allocation, expense 
management and distribution decisions.

As Chairman, with the rest of the Board, I seek to build upon 
the work of predecessors and apply new energy and insights to 
help make Spacetalk as great as it can be. There are challenges 
ahead but opportunities also.

I also take this opportunity to thank Mark Fortunatow and the 
Spacetalk team for making significant progress in difficult market 
conditions.

It is an honour to lead your Board and represent your interests. 
I look forward to meeting you soon.

GEORG CHMIEL
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
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JumpySIM virtual mobile 
network service was 

launched in the US in June 
2022 and in Australian in 

September 2022.
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CEO’s Report
The 2022 financial year was a landmark year for Spacetalk where the 
Company achieved a number of operating and financial highlights including 
important geographic expansions into North America and the Nordic region. 

In 2022, Spacetalk also launched its JumpySIM mobile network 
service which promises to significantly enhance our customers’ 
user experience while improving the underlying economics of the 
wearables business.

Broader macro-economic and capital market conditions 
contributed to a more volatile operating environment. The second 
half of the financial year was particularly challenging. Despite this, 
the business performed well with the Company entering the 2023 
financial year stronger and more resilient. 

Spacetalk is well positioned to deliver on its mission to bring the 
best child safety and development technology platform to families 
around the world so as to advance childrens wellness. We seek to 
achieve this through both our connected wearables and through 
our original schools communication business. 

In many cases, Spacetalk is helping families with young children, 
frequently with developmental challenges or special needs. 
Ensuring that families can easily communicate with one another 
in a safe, reliable, and secure manner is critical for the Company. 
So too is the careful management of our customers’ data.

Spacetalk continues to invest in its products and services including 
ongoing enhancement to core software, services, and devices. 
Investments seek to ensure that Spacetalk retains its leading 
and differentiated position in the connected wearable market. 
Spacetalk is dedicated to delivering an exceptional experience 
to its customers so that they stay with us and recommend us to 
friends and family.

In early October 2022, Spacetalk will commence a global 
deployment of a kids wearable redefining upgrade. This upgrade 
changes the game in offering HD video calling and wellness 
features on the Spacetalk Adventurer. The wellness function will 
use the advanced sensors in the Adventurer to allow parents to see 
the mood of their child. These innovations maintain Spacetalk’s 
global product and functional lead.

Additionally, on 28 September 2022, JumpySIM officially launched 
in Australia. This will significantly enhance our customer’s experience 
by including a JumpySIM with all Spacetalk Adventurer wearables 
sold through non-telecommunication channels. JumpySIM is a 
sea change improvement in our customers’ experience and our 
business economics.

Looking forward, we remain confident that we have the people, 
products, platforms, brand, and business model to achieve our 
goal of brand market leadership in this new, large and fast growing 
global connected children’s wearables category. We are still at the 
foothills of a significant global opportunity.

I would like to thank the entire Spacetalk team for a strong year. I 
also extend my thanks to the Board, led by Georg Chmiel. With their 
expertise and counsel, we will continue to strive for greatness and 
to deliver on our profitable growth strategy. Together we continue 
to work to build a great company and to create value for Spacetalk 
shareholders.

The future remains bright.

 
 
 
MARK FORTUNATOW
FOUNDER.  MANAGING DIRECTOR  
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

CEO’S REPORT
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FY2022 Financial Highlights

>$20m
revenue generated for the first 
time in Company’s history

up 37% on the prior year

GROSS PROFIT

 33%
to $12.4 million

WEARABLES  
REVENUE

 43%
 to $18.3 million

SCHOOLS 
REVENUE

 8%
 to $2.4 million

DEVICE 
SALES

 41%
 to $14.9 million

FY2022 Operating Highlights

Obtained European GCF certification and North American PTCRB certification.  Both 
evidence compliance with standards for network equipment and device interoperability, 
and inter-operator roaming.

Launched North American business with distribution through leading retailers including Amazon, 
and Best Buy in both US and Canada.

Expanded European business into Nordic region with distribution through leading retailers 
including Elkjop and Verkkokauppa, and leading mobile operators including Elisa and Telenor.

Expanded distribution in Australia to Big W and in the UK to John Lewis and Robert Dyas.

Launched JumpySIM virtual mobile network service in the US. JumpySIM launched in Australia 
in September 2022. 

Commenced planning for new wearable device offerings.

CEO’S REPORT
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FINANCIAL REPORT

Registered Office Suite 13, The Parks
154 Fullarton Road
Rose Park SA 5067
Australia

Principal Office Suite 13, The Parks
154 Fullarton Road
Rose Park SA 5067  
Australia 
Telephone: +61 (08) 8104 9555 
Facsimile: +61 (08) 8431 2400 
www.spacetalkwatch.com

Other Offices Office 9, Business First
Burnbrae Rd, Linwood Industrial Estate
Paisley PA3 3FP
United Kingdom

Suite 250
450 Century Parkway
Allen, Texas 75013
USA

Auditor Ian G McDonald 

Share Registry Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Level 5
115 Grenfell Street
Adelaide SA 5000
Australia
Telephone: 1300 556 161
Overseas Callers: +61 3 9415 4000
Facsimile: 1300 534 987

Stock Exchange The securities of Spacetalk Ltd. are listed on the  
Australian Securities Exchange. 

ASX Code SPA
ordinary fully paid shares

Corporate Directory
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors of Spacetalk Ltd. present their annual report of the Company and its 
controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2022. In order to comply with the 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS 
The names of the Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and up to 
the date of this report are as follows:

Directors were in office for the entire year unless otherwise stated.

GEORG CHMIEL (from 1 July 2022)

MARK FORTUNATOW

MARTIN PRETTY

BRANDON GIEN

SAURABH JAIN (from 1 March 2022)

MIKE RANN (from 1 July 2022)

Directors’ Report

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



14

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Information on Directors
GEORG CHMIEL
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN. APPOINTED 1 JULY 2022.

Mr Chmiel is a business leader, company director and senior advisor with 3 decades of experience in rapidly 
growing companies and disruptive technologies who brings strong capital market and technology business 
expertise with extensive global exposure in Asia, Australia, New Zealand, and Europe.

Mr Chmiel is currently Chairman of Juwai-IQI, Asia’s leading prop-tech group. He is also a Non-Executive 
Director of Centrepoint Alliance (ASX:CAF), butn (ASX:BTN) and PropTech (ASX:PTG). He was also until March 
2022 the Executive Chairman of iCar Asia (ASX:ICQ), and his earlier roles include Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of iProperty (ASX:IPP), and Chief Financial Officer of REA Group (ASX:REA)

MARK FORTUNATOW B.SC.(MA.SC.) B.EC.

FOUNDER.  EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN TO 30 JUNE 2022. MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF-
FICER FROM 1 JULY 2022

Executive Chairman Mark Fortunatow, founder and chief executive of the Company’s subsidiary MGM Wire-
less Holdings Pty Ltd, brings more than 23 years of senior executive management experience in marketing, 
engineering, information systems, finance and customer support.

Mr Fortunatow previously founded three successful technology-based enterprises, Linx Computer Systems 
(developer and marketer of financial software), Timekeeping Australia (a leader in the Australian workforce 
management market) and Netline Technologies ( a company designing, engineering, selling and distributing 
voice based mobile wireless solutions), accumulating substantial practical experience in the many disci-
plines required to successfully launch and sustainably grow a successful technology enterprise. He holds a 
degree of Bachelor of Science (Ma.Sc.) and Bachelor of Economics from Adelaide University.

Mr Fortunatow has been a director since 3 October 2003 and has held no other directorships in listed com-
panies in the last 3 years.

MARTIN PRETTY
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR.

Mr Pretty has over 20 years of experience in the investment and finance industry and has had deep 
involvement over that time in investing in and supporting growing Australian technology businesses. He 
was previously an investment manager with Thorney Investment Group and held management roles at 
ASX-listed companies Hub24, Bell Financial Group and IWL Limited. He has worked as a finance journalist 
with The Australian Financial Review and is currently the managing director of boutique investment firm, 
Equitable Investors, non-executive chairman of ASX-listed home security technology company Scout 
Security (ASX: SCT) and a non-executive director of ASX-listed financial services group Centrepoint Alliance 
(ASX: CAF). 

Mr Pretty holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) from The University of Melbourne, a Graduate Diploma  
of Applied Finance from Finsia, is a CFA charter holder and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 

Mr Pretty is additionally the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board and a 
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board. F
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DR BRANDON GIEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR.

Dr. Gien has over 25 years’ industrial design experience and is internationally recognised as the Founder 
and CEO of Good Design Australia as well as Chair of the longest running national design award program, 
Australia’s annual Good Design Awards. As an advocate for the value of design-led innovation to drive 
business competitiveness, Dr Gien has been appointed to multiple international honorary board positions 
throughout his career. 

In 2015, Dr Gien was appointed as Senator of the World Design Organization (WDO), the world body for 
Industrial Design. He was a member of the Board of Directors for three consecutive terms and elected 
President of the organisation from 2013 to 2015, the first Australian to hold this position. During his term as 
WDO President, he led the strategic transformation of the organisation, resulting in new global definition of 
Industrial Design. He is currently an Adjunct Professor of Industrial Design at both the University of New South 
Wales and the University of Canberra. 

Dr Gien holds a PhD in Environmental Design from the University of Canberra’s School of Design and 
Architecture, and studied Mechanical Engineering at the University of Newcastle where he later graduated 
with a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Design. 

Dr Gien is additionally a member of both the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board and the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board. 

SAURABH JAIN
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR. APPOINTED 1 MARCH 2022.

Mr Jain has held senior executive roles at Ventia, Cushman Wakefield, and was the CEO for Urbanise a listed 
SAAS company. He brings over 25 years of experience in software development, commercialisation and 
management with experience in APAC, Middle East, North America, and South Africa. His passion is to focus 
on building amazing technology and then ensure it generates revenue. He started his career with his own 
startup that he later sold to Telstra.

Mr Jain holds a B.E Software Eng, Executive Master of Business Administration, Master of Business 
Technology, and is a graduate from the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Mr Jain is additionally the Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board and a 
member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of the Board. 

MIKE RANN
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR. APPOINTED 1 JULY 2022.

Mr Rann was Premier of South Australia for almost ten years from 2002 to 2011. While Premier, he also served 
as Minister for Economic Development, the Arts, Sustainability and Climate Change and Social Inclusion.

In late 2012 Mr Rann was appointed as Australian High Commissioner to the United Kingdom and was a 
Governor of the Commonwealth Secretariat. In 2014 he was appointed as Australia’s Ambassador to Italy, 
San Marino, Albania and Libya, and Permanent Representative to the UN’s World Food Programme and to 
the Food and Agricultural Organisation.

Mr Rann is currently the UK and Global Chair of the Climate Group.

KIM CLARK
COMPANY SECRETARY. APPOINTED 11 MARCH 2022.

Ms Clark is the Head of Corporate Services for Boardroom Pty Ltd’s Queensland office and currently acts as 
Company Secretary for various ASX listed and unlisted companies in Australia. 

Ms Clark is an experienced business professional with 21 years’ experience in banking and finance and six 
years as in-house Company Secretary of an ASX 300 company prior to joining Boardroom in April 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS‘ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options of the Company as at the date of this Report:

DIRECTOR Mark Fortunatow Martin Pretty Brandon Gien Saurabh Jain

DIRECT ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES - - 253,571 -

INDIRECT ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES 17,612,800 720,783 - -

OPTIONS – EXP 30-APR-2023 
EXERCISE PRICE $0.90

1,250,000 - - -

OPTIONS – EXP 30-APR-2023 
EXERCISE PRICE $0.70

1,250,000 - - -

INCENTIVE RIGHTS – EXP 
1-DEC-2023 

5,000,000 375,000 375,000 -

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Information about the remuneration of directors and key management personnel is set out in the remuneration report of this directors‘ 
report on pages 22 to 25. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Nature of Operations and Principal Activities
The consolidated entity‘s principal continuing activity during 
the course of the financial year was development and sales 
of wearables, including the market leading SPACETALK all-in-
one mobile phone smartwatch and GPS, and as single source 
provider of mobile communications solutions.

Operating Results
The amount of the total comprehensive loss attributable to 
members of the Company after income tax was $6,575,925 
(2021: $1,792,029).

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes 
in the state of affairs of the Company that occurred during the 
financial year under review, not otherwise disclosed in these 
financial statements and Directors’ report.

Events Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year
The Pure Asset Management loan agreement is subject to 
covenant clauses, whereby the Company is required to meet 
certain key financial ratios as at December 31, 2022. Given this 
requirement, the Company has concluded it does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance date. Advice has been received from the 
financier that it intends to discuss with the Board the restructuring 
of the existing covenants well ahead of any potential 31 December 
2022 breach. Notwithstanding this, Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 requires the borrowing to be reclassified from 
non-current to current. Refer to Note 19 for details on borrowings.

Likely Developments
Comments on likely developments and expected results have 
been covered generally herein and in the Review of Operations.

The Company is actively pursuing various opportunities to grow 
revenues including new product development and alliances with 
other companies.

Disclosure of more specific information regarding likely 
developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in 
future financial years and the expected results of those operations 
is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated 
entity, the results of those operations, and/or the state of affairs of 
the consolidated entity in future financial years.

Dividends
No dividends have been declared in respect of the 2022 financial 
year (2021: Nil).

Corporate Information
Corporate Structure

ENTITY DETAILS

Spacetalk Ltd. Parent entity

MGM Wireless Holdings Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity

Messageyou LLC 100% owned controlled entity

MGM Wireless (NZ) Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity

Spacetalk Holdings Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity

Spacetalkwatch UK Ltd 100% owned controlled entity

Spacetalk Inc. 100% owned controlled entity

Spacetalk LLC. 100% owned controlled entity

Spacetalk USA Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity

In August 2020, Spacetalk Pty Ltd was renamed as Spacetalk Holdings Pty Ltd.

Spacetalk Ltd. is a limited liability Company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Spacetalk Ltd. has prepared consolidated 
financial statements incorporating the entities that it controlled during the financial year as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Shares Under Option or Issued on Exercise of Options
Details of unissued shares or interests under option as at the date of this report are:

DESCRIPTION As at 1 July 2021 Lapsed Exercised Balance as at 30 
June 2022

OPTION EXPIRING 30-APR-2023 EX $0.7000 1,300,000 1,300,000

OPTION EXPIRING 30-APR-2023 EX $0.9000 1,300,000 1,300,000

OPTIONS EXPIRING 30-APR-2022 EX $0.6000 2,100,000 (2,100,000) Nil

OPTIONS EXPIRING 30-APR-2022 EX $0.8000 1,500,000 (1,500,000) Nil

OPTIONS EXPIRING 30-APR-2022 EX $1.0000 1,500,000 (1,500,000) Nil

OPTIONS EXPIRING 30-JUN-2022 EX $0.5500 3,000,000 (3,000,000) Nil

OPTIONS EXPIRING 30-JUN-2022 EX $0.6500 3,000,000 (3,000,000) Nil

WARRANT OVER 11 MILLION FPO SHARES EXPIRING  
26-MAR-2025 EX $0.2169

1 1

The holders of these options do not have the right, by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue or interest issue of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

There were no options issued during the year or ordinary shares issued during or since the end of the financial year as a result of the 
exercise of options.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance of Directors at the meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors held during the year is as follows:

Board Meetings Audit & Risk 
Management Committee

Remuneration & 
Nomination Committee

Director/Alternate Director Date 
Appointed

Attended Eligible to 
Attend

Attended Eligible 
to Attend

Attended Eligible 
to Attend

Mark Fortunatow 3/10/2003 15 15 – – – –

Brandon Gien 18/05/2020 15 15 1 1 1 1

Martin Pretty 18/05/2020 15 15 1 1 1 1

Saurabh Jain 1/03/2022 4 4 1 1 1 1F
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving and demonstrating the 
highest standards of corporate governance. As such, Spacetalk 
Ltd. and its Controlled Entities (`the Group’) have adopted 
the fourth edition of the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations which was released by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council in February 2019 and became effective for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The Group’s Corporate Governance Statement for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2022 is dated as at 30 September 2022 
and was approved by the Board on 30 September 2022. The 
Corporate Governance Statement is available on Spacetalk 
Limited’s website at https://investors.spacetalkwatch.com/.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect 
of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as named 
above), the company secretary Ms K Clark, and all executive 
officers of the Company and any related body corporate against 
a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer 
to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act. The contract of 
insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the 
amount of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the 
financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of 
any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an 
officer or auditor.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The Company’s operations are not regulated by any significant 
environmental regulation under a Law of the Commonwealth or 
of a State or Territory.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is a party to proceedings in the Federal Circuit Court 
of Australia in connection with the employment termination of a 
former employee. The proceedings were served on the Company 
on 26 July, 2021.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit 
services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined in 
note 29 of the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services, during the year, by the auditor is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act. The Directors are satisfied that the services 
disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s 
independence for the following reasons:

1.	 All non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Board 
prior to commencement to ensure they do not adversely affect 
the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

2.	 The nature of the services provided do not compromise 
the general principles relating to auditor independence in 
accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s 
own work, acting in a management or decision-making 
capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company 
or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

No non-audit services have been provided by the Auditor or by 
another person on the Auditor’s behalf during the year.

AUDITOR’S DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended  
30 June 2022 has been received and is included on page 27.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

This remuneration report, which forms part of the Directors’ 
report, details the nature and amount of remuneration for each 
Director and other Key Management Personnel of Spacetalk Ltd. 
The information provided in the remuneration report includes 
remuneration disclosures that are audited as required by section 
308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.

For the purposes of this report Key Management Personnel of 
the Group are defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the major 
activities of the group, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company.

In respect of the remuneration policy, last voted upon by 
shareholders at the 2021 Annual General Meeting (AGM), 
more than 25% of the votes were cast against this resolution, 
constituting a second strike for the purposes of the Corporations 
Act 2001 (Cth).
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Since the last AGM, the Board has:

•	 chartered nomination and remuneration and audit and risk 
management committees of the board;

•	 expanded to six members including five non-executive 
directors;

•	 appointed an independent non-executive Chairman; and 

•	 commenced negotiations with the Managing Director 
and CEO to amend the terms of his employment and his 
remuneration.

Separately but related, the Board has also commenced the 
process to appoint a new external auditor, with the current auditor 
retiring due to normal rotation requirements. Further, the Board 
has completed a review of all governance and risk policies  
with these policies now published on the Company’s Investor 
Centre. A Board review of the Company’s risk framework is due 
to commence.

As advised in last year’s annual report, the Board commissioned 
an independent review of the Executive Chairman’s remuneration 
in 2021. Consistent with that review, and in respect of the 2022 
financial year, there has been no change to the fixed remuneration 
of the Executive Chairman.¹

Since the 2021 AGM, the Board has chartered a Nomination and 
Remuneration committee comprised entirely of independent non-
executive directors. Mr Saurabh Jain chairs the committee, and 
Mr Martin Pretty and Dr Brandon Gien are ordinary members of 
the committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for 
determining and reviewing the compensation arrangements for 
the Directors themselves, the CEO and any executives. Executive 
remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to individual and 
business performance, relevant comparative remuneration and 
internal and independent external advice.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has also made 
changes to remuneration reporting policies. As a consequence, 
this report reflects these changes.

A. REMUNERATION POLICY

The board policy is to remunerate directors at market rates for 
time, commitment, and responsibilities. The Board determines 
payments to the directors and reviews their remuneration annually, 
based on market practice, duties, and accountability. Independent 
external advice is sought when required. The maximum aggregate 
amount of Directors’ fees that can be paid is subject to approval 
by shareholders in general meeting, from time to time. To align 
Directors’ interests with shareholders‘ interests, the Directors are 
encouraged to hold shares in the Company.

The CEO and full-time executives receive a superannuation 
guarantee contribution as required by law, currently 10.5%. The 
CEO and full-time executives do not receive any other retirement 
benefits. Some individuals, however, may choose to sacrifice part 
of their salary to increase payments towards superannuation.

All remuneration paid to Directors and executives is valued at the 
cost to the Company and expensed.

The Board has sought independent third-party expert advice on 
its remuneration policies and has implemented suitable practices 
and procedures that are appropriate for an organisation of this 
size and maturity.

B. REMUNERATION STRUCTURE

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the 
structure of non-executive Director and executive compensation 
is separate and distinct.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
OBJECTIVE

The Board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level 
that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain 
Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is 
acceptable to shareholders.

STRUCTURE

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the 
aggregate compensation of non-executive Directors shall be 
determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount 
not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between 
the Directors as agreed.

The amount of aggregate compensation sought to be approved 
by shareholders and was increased from $100,000 to $500,000 
per financial year at the 2021 AGM. The manner in which this 
amount it is apportioned amongst Directors is reviewed annually. 

The Board considers advice from external consultants as 
appropriate as well as the fees paid to non-executive Directors 
of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review 
process. Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration may include an 
incentive portion consisting of options, as considered appropriate 
by the Board, which may be subject to Shareholder approval in 
accordance with ASX listing rules.

Separate from their duties as Directors, the Non-Executive 
Directors undertake work for the Company directly related to the 
evaluation and implementation of various business opportunities, 
including information / evaluation and new business ventures, 
for which they receive a daily rate. These payments are made 
pursuant to individual agreements with the non-executive 
Directors and are not taken into account when determining their 
aggregate remuneration levels.

1. The Executive Chairman took a voluntarily 20% COVID measures related pay reduction in 2020. This was restored in 2021.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
OBJECTIVE

The entity aims to reward executives with a level and mix 
of compensation commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the entity so as to:

•	 reward executives for Company and individual performance 
against targets set by appropriate benchmarks;

•	 align the interests of executives with those of shareholders;

•	 link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of the 
Company; and

•	 ensure total compensation is competitive by  
market standards.

STRUCTURE

In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, 
the Board negotiates a remuneration to reflect the market salary 
for a position and individual of comparable responsibility and 
experience. Remuneration is periodically compared with the 
external market by participation in industry salary surveys and 
during recruitment activities generally. If required, the Board may 
engage an external consultant to provide independent advice in 
the form of a written report detailing market levels of remuneration 
for comparable executive roles.

Remuneration consists of a fixed remuneration and a long-term 
incentive portion as considered appropriate. Compensation may 
consist of the following key elements:

•	 Fixed Compensation;

•	 Variable Compensation;

•	 Short Term Incentive (STI); and

•	 Long Term Incentive (LTI).

FIXED REMUNERATION

The objective of long-term incentives is to reward Directors and 
executives in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration 
with the creation of shareholder wealth. The incentive portion 
is payable based upon attainment of objectives related to the 
Director’s or executive’s job responsibilities. The objectives vary, 
but all are targeted to relate directly to the Company’s business 
and financial performance and thus to shareholder value.

Long term incentives (LTIs) granted to Directors or executives 
are delivered in the form of performance rights. These rights 
are granted subject to pre-determined performance hurdles 
determined at the time of issue. 

The objective of the granting of performance rights is to reward 
Executives in a manner which aligns the element of remuneration 
with the creation of shareholder wealth. As such LTI’s are made to 
Executives who are able to influence the generation of shareholder 
wealth and thus have an impact on the Company’s performance.

Typically, the grant of LTIs occurs at the commencement of 
employment, at bi-annual performance reviews, or in the event 
that the individual receives a promotion and, as such, is not 
subsequently affected by the individual’s performance over time.

C. �EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

The employment arrangements of the Directors are documented 
through agreements.

D. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION FOR YEAR

DIRECTORS

The following persons were Directors of Spacetalk Ltd. during the 
financial year: 

Mark Fortunatow Chairman (Executive. 
Managing Director and CEO 

from 1 July 2022) 

Martin Pretty Director (non-executive)

Brandon Gien Director (non-executive)

Saurabh Jain Director (Non-executive.  
Commenced 1 March 2022)

EXECUTIVES

In addition to the Executive Chairman (Managing Director and 
CEO from 1 July 2022), there were two other key management 
personnel.  

Jarred Puro	 Chief Financial Officer

Mark Moloney	 Global Sales and Marketing Director
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E. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND COMPANY PERFORMANCE

  30/06/2022 30/06/2021 30/06/2020 30/06/2019 30/06/2018

Revenue 20,704,012 15,121,573 10,486,517 7,142,148 2,744,102

Net profit/(loss) before tax (7,109,926) (2,435,719) (5,271,344) (5,644,342) (1,765,009)

Net profit/(loss) after tax (6,300,910) (1,780,148) (4,265,450) (4,688,679) (1,129,935)

  30/06/2021 30/06/2020 30/06/2019 30/06/2018

Share price at start of year 0.16 0.14 3.30 2.19 0.49

Share price at end of year 0.06 0.16 0.14 3.30 2.19

Interim dividend -  -   

Final dividend - -   -   

Basic earnings/(loss) cents per share (3.66) (1.09) (3.10) (3.88) (11.71)

Diluted earnings/(loss) cents per share (3.50) (1.03) (3.03) (3.67) (11.71)

REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of each Director and named executive officer of the Company, including their personally related entities, 
during the year was as follows:

Director Remuneration 2022 Mark 
Fortunatow

Brandon 
Gien

Martin 
Pretty

Saurah Jain 
(Commenced 1/03/2022)

Short term - Salary & Fees (i)  457,400 28,392 28,392 8,736

Post employment - Superannuation 47,540  2,839 2,839 874

Benefits & Entitlements (ii) 163,296  -    -    -   

Share-based (iii), (iv) 216,865 21,686 21,686 -

Total 903,101 52,917  52,917   9,610

% of remuneration share-based 24% 41% 41% 0%

Fees paid to related entities (v) 108,055 22,000 - -

Director Remuneration 2021 Mark 
Fortunatow

Brandon 
Gien

Martin 
Pretty

Leila 
Henderson

Glen 
Butler

Short term - Salary & Fees (i)  457,715 27,300 27,300  9,828  -   

Post employment - Superannuation  41,746 2,489 2,489  933  -   

Benefits & Entitlements (ii)  175,031   - -  -    -   

Share-based (iii) (iv) 124,771   12,477 12,477  -   -

Total 799,263 42,266 47,266  10,761 -

% of remuneration share-based 16% 30% 30% 0% 0%

Fees paid to related entities (v) 97,046 24,000 4,794 - 6,000F
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KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Key Management Personnel 2022 Jared Puro Mark Moloney 
(Commenced 28/02/2022)

Short term - Salary & Fees 266,154 90,000

Post employment - Superannuation 26,584 9,000

Benefits & Entitlements -  -   

Share-based (iii) 105,900 35,509

Total 398,638 134,509

% of remuneration share-based 27% 26%

Fees paid to related entities (iii) - -

Key Management Personnel 2021 Jared Puro

Short term - Salary & Fees 195,371

Post employment - Superannuation 18,560

Benefits & Entitlements -

Share-based (iii) 10,304

Total 224,235

% of remuneration share-based 5%

Fees paid to related entities (iii) -

NOTES:

(i).	 The Executive Chairman’s remuneration has remained unchanged since 2019. 

(ii).	 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee had determined to change the Company’s policy with respect to fringe benefits tax 
(FBT) to include ‘Benefits and Entitlements’ FBT in this report and future disclosures. FBT components of ‘Benefits and Entitlements’ 
were not previously included in reporting. 

(iii).	 Performance rights were granted to key management personnel at the 2020 AGM. Options were granted to key management 
personnel at the 2019 Annual General Meeting. The value of the options and rights granted to key management personnel as part of 
their remuneration is calculated as at the grant date using a binomial pricing model. The amounts disclosed as part of remuneration 
for the financial year have been determined by allocating the grant date value on a straight-line basis over the period from grant date 
to vesting date. These are non-cash transactions and reflect the accounting cost of the rights which are amortised over the period 
over which they were granted.

(iv).	 No new Performance Rights were granted to the Executive Chairman in 2022. 

(v).	 A member of the Executive Chairman’s family is an employee of the Company performing accounting and administrative services. 
This was an omission in prior disclosures. The family member’s remuneration in 2022 was $108,555 (2021: $97,046).

The weighted average share price during the year was $0.16 (2021: $0. 11). The average remaining contractual life of options outstanding 
for each Director at the end of the financial year was 0.42 years (2021: 1.12). 
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During the financial year, the following share-based payment arrangements were in existence:

Name Grant Date Expiry Date Grant Date Fair Value Vesting Date

Mark Fortunatow 18/12/19 30/4/23 $0.33 Vests at date of grant

Mark Fortunatow 2/12/20 1/12/23 $0.13 Vest on 1/12/23

Martin Pretty 2/12/20 1/12/23 $0.13 Vest on 1/12/23

Brandon Gien 2/12/20 1/12/23 $0.13 Vest on 1/12/23

There is no further service or performance criteria that need to be met in relation to options granted before the beneficial interest vests in 
the recipient. These options are not linked to the performance of the individual.

There were no options granted during the year to Directors or executives. There were no options previously granted to Directors and 
executives which lapsed during the year. There were 6,000,000 performance rights granted during 2021 to Directors.

No loans were provided to key management personnel during the financial year.

The following table outlines the fully paid ordinary shares held by key management personnel in Spacetalk Ltd:

Name Balance at 
1 July

Granted as 
compensation

Received on 
exercise of 

options

Net other change Balance at 
 30 June

2022 No. No. No. No. No.

Mark Fortunatow  17,612,800  -    -   -  17,612,800 

Martin Pretty 332,106  -    -   282,895 615,001

Brandon Gien 128,571  -    -   125,000 253,571

Jarred Puro 130,000  -    -   220,000 350,000

Mark Moloney -  -    -   150,000   150,000

Name Balance at 
1 July

Granted as 
compensation

Received on 
exercise of 

options

Net other change Balance at 
 30 June

2021 No. No. No. No. No.

Mark Fortunatow  17,333,730  -    -    279,070  17,612,800 

Martin Pretty 160,000  -    -   172,106 332,106

Brandon Gien 128,571  -    -    -   128,571

Jarred Puro -  -    -   130,000 130,000
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The following table outlines the share options held by key management personnel in Spacetalk Limited:

Name Balance at 
1 July

Granted as 
compensation

Reduction due 
to exercise of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Net other 
change

Balance at  
30 June

Balance 
vested and 
exercisable

2022 No. No. No. ($) No. No. No.

Mark Fortunatow  6,800,000  -    -    -   (4,300,000) 2,500,000 2,500,000

Name Balance at 
1 July

Granted as 
compensation

Reduction due 
to exercise of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Net other 
change

Balance at  
30 June

Balance 
vested and 
exercisable

2021 No. No. No. ($) No. No. No.

Mark Fortunatow  6,800,000  -    -    -    -    6,800,000  6,800,000 

Leila Henderson  500,000  -    -    -    -    500,000  500,000 

Glen Butler  400,000  -    -    -    -    400,000  400,000 

The following table outlines the incentives rights held by the key management personnel in Spacetalk Ltd:

Name Balance at 
1 July

Granted as 
compensation

Reduction due 
to exercise of 

options

Net other change Balance at 
 30 June

2022 No. No. No. No. No.

Mark Fortunatow 5,000,000  -    -   - 5,000,000

Martin Pretty 500,000  -   (125,000)  -   375,000

Brandon Gien 500,000  -   (125,000)  -   375,000

Jarred Puro 975,000  -    -   (550,000) 425,000

Mark Moloney - 150,000 (150,000)  -   -

Name Balance at 
1 July

Granted as 
compensation

Reduction due 
to exercise of 

options

Net other change Balance at 
 30 June

2021 No. No. No. No. No.

Mark Fortunatow - 5,000,000  -   - 5,000,000

Martin Pretty - 500,000  -    -   500,000

Brandon Gien - 500,000  -    -   500,000

Jarred Puro 80,000 50,000  -   - 130,000

This Directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.  

On behalf of the Directors,

GEORG CHMIEL SAURABH JAIN
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN CHAIRMAN, NOMINATION AND 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Signed on Friday 30 September 2022 Signed on Friday 30 September 2022
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The Directors of the Company declare that:

(a)	 in the directors‘ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable;

(b)	 in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as stated in note 1.1 to the financial statements; 

(c)	 in the directors‘ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and

(d)	 the directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors,

MARK FORTUNATOW
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Signed on Friday 30 September 2022

Directors‘ Declaration
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the members of Spacetalk Limited 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
To the directors of Spacetalk Ltd 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss  
and Other Comprehensive Income

    Group Year Ended

  Notes 30/06/2022 30/06/2021

    $ $

Continuing Operations      

Revenue 5 20,704,012 15,121,573

Cost of sales   (8,285,417) (5,759,779)

Doubtful debts    (69,171) (75,170)

Interest expense (1,092,011) (172,128)

Amortisation & depreciation   (3,686,445) (2,993,992)

Options and share issue costs (540,788) (351,342)

Corporate and administration (4,852,238) (3,292,530)

Advertising and marketing (2,041,968) (1,491,229)

Employee costs (7,628,970) (3,029,154)

Fair value gain/(loss) 544,231 -

(Loss)/ Gain on foreign exchange   (161,161) (391,968)

(Loss)/ profit before tax   (7,109,926) (2,435,719)

Income tax benefit 6 809,016 655,571

Net loss for the period attributable to owners of the Company (6,300,910) (1,780,148)

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax  

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations   (275,015) (11,881)

Other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax)   (275,015) (11,881)

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to owners of the Company   (6,575,925) (1,792,029)

   

(Loss)/profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company (6,575,925) (1,792,029)

Earnings per share  

Basic (cents per share) 7 (3.66) (1.09)

Diluted (cents per share) 7 (3.50) (1.03)

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

    Group As At

  Notes 30/06/2022 30/06/2021

    $ $

ASSETS      

Current Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 9 5,577,088 4,185,033

Trade and other receivables 10 3,590,951 2,218,826

Inventories 11 7,062,398 1,736,994

Other current assets 12 761,411 2,774,845

Total Current Assets 16,991,848 10,915,698

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 221,971 205,911

Intangibles 15 3,768,797 3,941,220

Right-of-use assets 18 104,052 289,016

Deferred tax assets 6 1,100,272 655,661

Total Non-Current Assets 5,195,092 5,091,808

Total Assets 22,186,940 16,007,506

 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 3,976,901 1,944,348

Provisions 17 581,001 418,494

Lease liabilities 18 109,304 183,539

Borrowings 19 3,077,683 -

Current tax liabilities 90,347 51,379

Total Current Liabilities 7,835,236 2,597,760

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 19 - 1,538,125

Warrants 20 1,865,495 2,409,726

Lease liabilities 18 - 109,304

Deferred Tax Liabilities 1,063 1,046

Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,866,558 4,058,201

Total Liabilities 9,701,794 6,655,961

Net Assets 12,485,146 9,351,545

 
EQUITY
Issued capital 21 28,064,477 18,686,099

Reserves 22 6,498,878 6,442,745

Accumulated losses (22,078,209) (15,777,299)

Total Equity   12,485,146 9,351,545

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Issued Capital Accumulated 
Losses

Share based 
payment 
Reserve

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

Total Equity

Consolidation $ $ $ $ $

At 30 June 2020 16,124,617 (13,997,151) 6,216,746 (31,029) 8,313,183

Loss attributable to members - (1,780,148) - - (1,780,148)

Currency translation differences - - - (11,881) (11,881)

Total comprehensive income (1,780,148) - (11,881) (1,792,029)

Transaction with owners

Contributions and distributions

Shares issued 2,505,047 - - - 2,505,047

Options exercised - - - - -

Cost of shares issued (29,095) - - - (29,095)

Options/rights issued 85,530 - 268,909 - 354,439

Transactions with owners 2,561,482 - 268,909 - 2,830,391

At 30 June 2021 18,686,099 (15,777,299) 6,485,655 (42,910) 9,351,545

Loss attributable to members - (6,300,910) - - (6,300,910)

Currency translation differences - - - (275,015) (275,015)

Total comprehensive income - (6,300,910) - (275,015) (6,575,925)

Transaction with owners

Contributions and distributions - - -

Share issued 9,497,018 - - - 9,497,018

Options exercised - - - - -

Cost of share issued (328,280) - - - (328,280)

Options/rights issued 209,640 - 331,148 - 540,788

Transactions with owners 9,378,378 - 331,148 - 9,709,526

At 30 June 2022 28,064,477 (22,078,209) 6,816,803 (317,925) 12,485,146

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.

    Group Year Ending

    30/06/2022 30/06/2021

  $ $

Cash flows from operating activities      
Receipts from customers  21,188,990 15,264,873

Payments to suppliers  (27,480,011) (16,842,403)

Tax receipts  837,145 650,612

Interest and other costs of finance (114,641) (257,596)

Net cash provided by operating activities (5,568,517) (1,184,514)

Cash flows from investing activities  

Payments for plant and equipment  (56,206) (48,089)

Payment for research and development  (3,288,913) (2,997,639)

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities  (3,345,119) (3,045,728)

Cash flows from financing activities  

Proceeds from issue of shares  9,497,018 2,495,047

Payment of lease liabilities  (183,539) (197,363)

Costs associated with issue of shares  (328,280) (35,653)

Repayment of convertible notes (404,493) -

Proceed from borrowings 2,000,000 3,000,000

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  10,580,706 5,262,031

Net increase / decrease in cash held  1,667,070 1,031,789

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  4,185,033 3,165,125

Effect of exchange rate changes  (275,015) (11,881)

Cash at the end of the year 5,577,088 4,185,033
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements are general purpose financial 
statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncemnets issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards and other authoritative pronouncements issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), and comply with 
other requirements of law.

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. For the purposes of preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit 
entity.

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that 
the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Consequently, 
this financial report has been prepared in accordance with and 
complies with IFRS as issued by the IASB.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 30 September 2022.	

Spacetalk Limited (the Company) is a limited Company 
incorporated in Australia. The addresses of its registered office 
and principal place of business are disclosed in the introduction 
to the annual report. The principal activities of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (the Group) are described on page 11 of the 
Annual Report.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 
AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

2.1 AMENDMENTS TO ACCOUNTING STANDARDS THAT 
ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT 
REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective 
for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 July 2021.

New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and 
Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant to 
the Group include:

•	 AASB 2020-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Interest Rare Bendchmark Reform Phase 2

•	 AASB 2021-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Covid 19 – Related Rent Concessions beyonf  
30 June 2022

The adoption of these amendments does not have material 
impact the Group.

New and revised Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations on issue but not yet effective

Standard/amedments Effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after

AASB 2020-1 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current

1 January 2023

AASB 2020-6 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-
current – Deferral of  
Effective Date

1 January 2023

AASB 2020-3 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and 
Other Amendments

1 January 2022

AASB 2021-2 Amendments 
to Australian Standards – 
Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies and Definition of 
Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023

AASB 2021-5 Amendments 
of Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferred Tax 
related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from Single Transaction

1 January 2023

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION			 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
basis of historical cost, except for certain non-current assets and 
financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or 
fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that 
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, 
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such 
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are 
within the scope of AASB 2, leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of AASB 17, and measurements that have some similarities 
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 
AASB 2 or value in use in AASB 136. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets  
or liabilities that the entity can access at the  
measurement date; 

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and 

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.2 GOING CONCERN

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial 
statements, a resonable expectation that the Group have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existance for the 
foreseable future. They continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting in preparing the fianicnal statements.

3.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION			 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of Spacetalk Limited (the Company) and entities 
controlled by Spacetalk Limited (its subsidiaries). Control is 
achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if 
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control listed above.	

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared 
for the same period as Spacetalk Limited using consistent  
accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-
company balances and transactions, income and expenses and 
profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have 
been eliminated in full. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to 
be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out 
of the Group.	

3.4 REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

•	 Sale of goods, including smart watches and apps

•	 School messaging services and subscriptions

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and 
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or 
service to a customer.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred 
to the customer, being at the point the goods are delivered to 
the customer. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped 
to the customer’s specific location. A receivable is recognised by 
the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer as this 
represents the point in time at which the right to consideration 
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required 
before payment is due.

School messaging services and subscriptions

The Group provides school messaging services and app 
subscriptions to customers. Such services are recognised as a 
performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised 
for these services based on the stage of completion of the 
contract. The directors have assessed that the stage of completion 
determined as the proportion of the total time that has elapsed 
at the end of the reporting period is an appropriate measure of 
progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance 
obligations under AASB 15. Payment for subscriptions and school 
messaging services is made on a regular basis throughout the 
term accrued revenue is recognised over the period in which the 
installation services are performed representing the entity’s right 
to consideration for the services performed to date.

3.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the entities in the group 
is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is 
the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at 
the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at 
historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary 
items are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, 
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net 
investment hedge

Exchange difference arising on the translation of non-monetary 
items are recognised directly in equity to the extent that the gain 
or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange 
difference is recognised in the profit or loss.

Translation

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose 
functional currency is different from the presentation currency are 
translated as follows:

•	 Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange 
rates prevailing at that reporting date.

•	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange 
rates for the period.

•	 Retained profits are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction.
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•	 Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 
operations are transferred directly to the foreign currency 
reserve in the statement of financial position. These 
differences are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in 
which the operation is disposed.

3.6 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable 
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching 
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses 
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is 
that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the 
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss 
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the  
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related 
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
become receivable.

3.7 TAXATION

3.7.1 Current Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are 

those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

3.7.2 Deferred Tax

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial statements 
purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except:

•	 when the deferred income tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

•	 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint 
ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable  
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

•	 when the deductible temporary difference is associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed 
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred 
tax asset to be recovered.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be 
realised in the future is based on the assumption that no adverse 
change will occur in income legislation and the anticipation 
that the Group will derive sufficient future assessable income to 
enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions 
of deductibility imposed by the law.

3.7.3 Research and development tax incentive refund

Refund amounts received or receivable under the Federal 
Government’s Research and Development Tax Incentive are 
recognised on an accruals basis. The refund is recognised in 
income tax benefit in the profit or loss.

3.7.4 Goods and Services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of GST except:

•	 when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount 
of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.
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3.8 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Depreciation is calculated on a reducing-balance basis over the 
estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

•	 Plant and equipment – over 5 to 10 years

•	 Leasehold improvements – 10 years

The assets‘ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial  
year end.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item 
of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

3.9 INTANGIBLES

3.9.1 Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination 
are initially measured at cost. The cost of an intangible asset 
acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible 
assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not 
capitalised and expenditure is charged against profit or loss in the 
year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with;

•	 finite lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period 
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year-end. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period 
or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting 
estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets 
with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

•	 The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life 
is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether 
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, 
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to 
finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate 
and is thus accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.9.2 Internally generated intangible assets - research and 
development

Research costs are expensed when incurred. Any costs that 
cannot be reliably split between research and development are 
also expensed when incurred. An intangible asset arising from 
development expenditure on an internal project is recognised 
only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility 
of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for 
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell 
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete the development and 
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to 

the intangible asset during its development. Following the initial 
recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model 
is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the period of 
expected benefits from the related project.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development 
expenditure is tested for impairment annually when the asset is 
not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of 
impairment arises during the reporting period.

3.10 Impairment of tangible and Intangible assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or groups of assets and the asset‘s value in use cannot be 
estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset 
is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to 
which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-
generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its  
recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are 
recognised in those expense categories consistent with the 
function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at a 
revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a  
revaluation decrease).

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of amortisation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 
in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount, 
in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
After such a reversal the amortisation charge is adjusted in future 
periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any 
residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
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3.11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 
Group’s statement of finanical posistion when a group entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at 
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value 
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in 
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on 
the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured 
subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI):

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial assets; and 

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which 
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the 
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 
the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any  
loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method 
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expires, or when it is 
transferred the financial assets and substantially all the risk and 
rewards of the assets to another entity.

On derecognition of the financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 
the income statement.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowance for expected credit 
loss (ECL) on financial assets subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective  
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ELC for trade and other 
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 
are estimated using a provision matrix on the Company’s historic 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and on assessment of both 
the current as well as the forecast directions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money.

Lifetime ELC represents the expected credit losses that will results 
from all possible defaults events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. In contracts, 12-months ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date.

Financial liabilities and equity

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial 
liability is:

•	 Contingent of an acquirer in a business combination;

•	 Held for trading; or

•	 Is designated as at FVTPL

Financial liabilities that are not subsequently measured at FVTPL 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective rate is that rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including 
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised costs of a  
financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in the profit or loss.
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Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by a company are recognised as the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the 
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted 
directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 
equity instruments.

3.12 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, 
for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
borrowing cost.

3.13 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Wages, salaries and annual leave

A liability is recognised for benefts accruing to employees in 
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the 
period the related service is rendered at the discounted amount 
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the service.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions.

Long service leave

Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits 
are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date.

3.14 LEASES

Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, 
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use 
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term lease 
(defined as leases with a lease of 12 months or less) and leases 
with low value assets (such as computers, printers, small office 
furniture and telephone). For these leases, the Group recognises 
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern on which economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the 
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate 
cannot be readily determined the group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the 
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the 
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying mount to 
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasured the lease liability (and makes 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use  
asset) whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a significant event 
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the 
assessment of exercise of purchase option, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in an index or 
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed 
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured 
by discounting the revised lease payments using an 
unchanged discount rate 

•	 a lese contract is modified and the lease modification is 
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the 
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of  
the modification.

The right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”) comprise the initial 
measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received and any initial 

direct costs. ROU assets are subsequently measured at costs less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The ROU assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease 
term and useful life of the underlying assets. The depreciation 
starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

ROU assets are presented as a separate line item in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

3.15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior 
executives) of the Group in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or 
rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

When provided, the cost of these equity-settled transactions with 
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is 
determined using a Binomial option pricing model.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of 
any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the 
price of the shares of Spacetalk Limited (market conditions)  
if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on 
the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to 
the award (the vesting period).
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The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions 
at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included 
in the determination of fair value at grant date (if applicable). The 
charge or credit to the profit or loss for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning 
and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a  
market condition.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a 
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, 
as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had 
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a 
new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated 
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled 
and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the 
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

3.16 ISSUED CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

3.17 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to 
members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing 
equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, 
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, 
adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable 
to members of the parent, adjusted for:

•	 costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and 
preference share dividends;

•	 the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised 
as expenses; and

•	 other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses 
during the period that would result from the dilution of 
potential ordinary shares; divided by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are 
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated judgments are based 
on historical experience and best available current information. 
Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and 
are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the group. Actual results may differ from  
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING  
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (see 4.2 below), that the Directors have made 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements.

4.1.2 Research and development

The Group incurs significant expenditure conducting research and 
development activities for new and existing products developed 
internally. As a result of this, professional judgment is required in 
order to identify which of these expenditures represent research 
and which represent development costs. 

Expenditure associated with research activities are expensed 
as incurred in accordance with AASB 138. An intangible asset 
is recognised to record expenditure arising from development 
activities only when the Group can demonstrate the technical 
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to 
use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic 
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development 
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to 
the intangible asset during its development.

Any costs that cannot be reliably split between research and 
development activities are expensed when incurred. 

4.2 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year.

4.2.1 Recoverability of internally generated intangible asset

During the year, the Directors reconsidered the recoverability of 
the Group’s internally generated intangible asset arising from 
its technological development and distribution rights, which is 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position at 30 
June 2022 at $3.77M (30 June 2021: $3.94M).
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The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development 
expenditure and distribution rights is tested for impairment 
annually when the asset is not yet available for use, or more 
frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the 
reporting period.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

4.3 KEY ESTIMATES 

Impairment

The group assess impairment at each reporting date by evaluating 
conditions specific to the group that may to lead to impairment 
of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined.

No impairment has been recognised in respect of intangible 
assets, as the value-in-use calculation is greater than the carrying 
value of the assets. Should the projected turnover figures be 
materially outside of budgeted figures incorporated in value-in-
use calculations, an impairment loss could be recognised up 
to the maximum carrying value of intangibles at 30 June 2022 
amounting to $3,768,796.

Provision for impairment of receivables

The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires 
a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of provision is 
assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, 
the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific 
knowledge of the individual debtors financial position.

A provision for doubtful debts of $67,252 (2021: $69,048) has 
been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Research and development tax incentive refund

The estimated amount recognised is based on detailed analysis 
of expenditure incurred. The actual amount to be claimed is 
finalised after completion of the current year’s financial report 
and preparation of the Group’s income tax return.
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REVENUE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Schools sales 2,440,783 2,245,287

SPACETALK sales 18,193,123 12,686,980

Grants received 2,700 15,300

Other SPACETALK income 64,503 64,504

Sundry income 2,903 109,502

Total sales revenue 20,704,012 15,121,573

Other SPACETALK income related to repairs and shipping charges.

Expenses

Rental expense relating to short-term lease 86,310 105,022

Defined controbution superannuation expenses 593,078 421,232

Option and share issue costs 540,788 341,703

Research costs 2,502,830 1,814,093

5. Revenue and Expenses

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time in the 
following major categories. This is consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under AASB 8 
Operating Segments (see note 8).

6. INCOME TAX Group Year Ending

6.1 INCOME TAX BENEFIT 30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

The income tax benefit for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit or loss as follow:

Loss for the year (7,109,926) (2,435,719)

Prima facie tax benefit at 25% (2021: 26%) (1,777,482) (633,287)

Non-deductible items

Other 133,795 43,329

Research and development tax offset (106,297) (173,167)

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior year 105,299 -

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the deferred tax loss not recognised 835,669

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the deferred tax of prior year -         56,319

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to changes in tax rates -          51,235

Total income tax benefit (809,016) (655,571)F
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6.2 INCOME TAX EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN THE PROFIT OR LOSS Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Current tax expense (278,758) 81,996

Research and development tax offset (249,976) (517,380)

Adjustment recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years 105,299 -

Adjustment recognised in the current year in relation to the deferred tax of prior years the - 56,319

Adjusted recognised in the current year in relation to changes in tax rates - 51,315

Deferred tax (385,581) (327,821)

(809,016) (655,571)

6.3 INCOME TAX EXPENSE RECOGNISED THROUGH EQUITY

Deferred tax (109,426) (6,558)

6.4 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Deferred tax assets

Provision for doubtful debts 2,750 2,750

Property, plant and equipment 8,411 9,225

Lease liabilities 27,326 73,211

Prepayments 99,227 88,202

Trade payables/accrued expenses 255,857 166,187

Provision for employee entitlements 146,250 104,623

Income tax losses 315,557 315,557

Other 284,137 72,188

1,139,515 831,943

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (14,293) (11,676)

Right-of-use assets (26,013) (72,254)

Intangible assets -   (54,850)

Other -   (38,548)

(40,306) (177,328)

1,099,209 654,615

Analysed as:

Deferred tax assets 1,100,272 655,661

Deferred tax liabilities (1,063) (1,046)F
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7. EARNINGS PER SHARE Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Basic earnings per share

Total basic earnings per share (sents per share) (3.66) (1.09)

Diluted earnings per share

Total diluted earnings per share (cents per share) (3.50) (1.03)

7.1 BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic 
earnings per share are as follows:

Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (6,300,910) (1,780,148)

Earnings used in the calculation of total basic earnings per share (6,300,910) (1,780,148)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share (all 
measures)

172,221,382 163,699,515

7.2 DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share are as follows:

Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (6,300,910) (1,780,147)

Earnings used in the calculation of total basic earnings per share (6,300,910) (1,780,147)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per 
share (all measures)

180,269,382 175,454,882
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8. SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

8.1 PRODUCTS AND SERVICES FROM WHICH REPORTABLE 
SEGMENTS DERIVE THEIR REVENUES

The Group operates predominately in three business segments, 
defined by the Groups different product and service offerings.

The groups reportable segments under AASB 8 are therefore  
as follows:

•	 School messaging services

•	 Spacetalk proprietary

•	 Other

This is the basis by which management controls and reviews the 
operations of the Group. Segment results are routinely reported to 
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource 
allocation and assessment of segment performance on the 
same basis. No operating segments have been aggregated in 
arriving at the reportable segments of the group.

The school messaging reportable segment provides school 
messaging services and licence fees to various schools.

Spacetalk proprietary segment supply the ‘Spacetalk’ 
smartwatches and applications through retail distribution 
networks and online sales and this segment has grown over the 
years. In line with the growth of this segment, the management 
has realigned the allocation of asset and liabilities to better reflect 
the use of the assets. This is reflected in the tables below.

‘Other’ is the aggregation of the Group’s other various sundry 
income and expenses.

Information regarding these segments is presented below. The 
accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as 
the Group‘s accounting policies described in note 3. 

No operations were discontinued during the current financial year.

8.2 SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable segment:

Segment revenue Segment profit / (loss)

Year Ended Year Ended

30/06/2022 30/06/2021 30/06/2022 30/06/2021

School messaging services 2,440,783 2,245,287  (4,832,506) (2,233,225)

Spacetalk proprietary 18,193,123 12,686,980  (1,468,404) 443,077

Other 70,106 189,306  -   -

Total for Continuing Operations 20,704,012 15,121,573

Loss after tax (continuing operations) (6,300,910)   (1,780,148)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers by each service or product. There were no inter-
segment sales in the current year (2021: nil).
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8.3 SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Assets Liabilities

Year Ended Year Ended

30/06/2022 30/06/2021 30/06/2022 30/06/2021

School messaging services 5,929,174 4,066,104 8,661,122 6,382,161

Spacetalk proprietary 9,329,680 6,582,578 949,262 221,375

Total segment assets/liabilites 15,258,854 10,648,682 9,610,384 6,603,537

Unallocated assets/liabilities 6,928,086 5,358,824 91,410 52,425

Consolidated assets 22,186,940 16,007,506

Consolidated Liabilities 9,701,794 6,655,961

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and alloacating resources between segments:

•	 All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than cash and R&D incentives.

•	 All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred tax liabilities and current tax liabilities. 

8.4 OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

Depreciation and amortisation Additions to non-current assets

Year Ended Year Ended

30/06/2022 30/06/2021 30/06/2022 30/06/2021

School messaging services 225,109 224,568 56,206 408,442

Smart watches and apps 3,461,336 2,769,424 3,288,913 2,997,640

Depreciation and amortisation 3,686,445 2,993,992

Additions to Non-current assets 3,345,119 3,406,082

8.5 GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION 

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non‑current assets excluding financial 
instruments, deferred tax assets and other financial assets) by geographical location are detailed below:

Revenue from external customers

Year Ended

30/6/2022 30/6/2021

Australia 14,696,688 12,805,147

United Kingdom and Europe 4,598,486 1,459,832

New Zealand 727,405 856,594

United States and Canada 681,433 -

Total 20,704,012 15,121,573

All revenues in the United Kingdom, Europe, United States, Canada and New Zealand relate to Spacetalk watch sales and revenue in 
Australia relates to Spacetalk watch sales and School Communication sales.

8.6 INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Included in revenues arising from Australia are revenues of approximately $3.9 million (2021 $3.6 million) which arose from sales to the 
Group’s largest customer. No other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue in either 2022 or 2021.
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9. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

9.1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and investments in 
money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown 
in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

9.2. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value. Cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the 
consolidated reporting position as shown above.

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Cash and bank balances 5,577,088 4,185,033

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

(Loss)/profit for the year (6,300,910) (1,780,148)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 3,686,445 2,993,992

Fair value movement 544,231 -

Options issue costs 331,148 268,909

Non cash shares issues 209,640 95,530

Impairment losses on financial assets 69,171 75,170

Accrued interest 55,949 40,584

Operating cash flows belore movements in working capital (1,404,326) 1,694,037

Movements in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventory (5,325,404) (759,143)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (1,608,338) (1,363,911)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payable 2,032,553 (140,493)

(Decrease)/increase in provision 162,508 209,704

Decrease/increase) in other current assets 980,116 (679,960)

(Decrease)/increase in tax liability 38,968 51,379

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax asset (444,594) (196,127)

Net cash generated from operating activities (5,568,517) (1,184,514)
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9.3 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s 
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Liabilities from financing activities

Convertible note Term loan Leases

Balance 30 June 2020 - 135,642 135,642

Cash flows 3,000,000 (197,363) 2,802,637

Acquisition - leases - 354,564 354,564

Transaction cost capitalised(i) (1,421,291) - (1,421,291)

Accrued interest (40,584) - (40,584)

Balance 30 June 2021 1,538,125 292,843 1,830,968

Cash flows 1,595,507 - 1,595,507

Acquisition - leases - (183,539) (183,539)

Transaction cost capitalised - - -

Accrued interest (55,949) - (55,949)

Balance 30 June 2022 3,077,683 109,304 3,198,987

(i)Transaction cost capitalised includes cost of warrant issued by Spacetalk Limited to Pure Asset Management Pty Ltd that is allocated 
to the first tranche of the loan. Refer note 19 for details of the loan.

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

10.1 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Trade receivables 3,658,203 2,287,874

Loss allowance (67,252) (69,048)

3,590,951 2,218,826

10.2 TRADE RECEIVABLES – PAST DUE Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Past due 0-30 days 237,126 99,118

Past due 31-60 days 129,802 85,983

Past due 61-90 days 599,353 222,826

Past due over 91 days 373,076 64,142

1,339,357 472,069

The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables. The Group always 
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. As noted within Note 2.1, the Group has measured 
the expected credit losses based on default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group has assessed the application of AASB 9 – Financial Instruments and concluded that there has been no significant impact on 
the financial position and/or financial performance of the Group.

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

•	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable in the range within 30-180 days.

•	 Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.F
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10.3 MOVEMENT IN THE LOSS ALLOWANCE Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Balance at the beginning of the year (69,048) (90,331)

Decrease/(Increase) in loss allowance attributable to new sales 1,796 21,283

Balance at the end of the year (67,252) (69,048)

11. INVENTORIES Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Finished goods 7,062,398 1,736,994

12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

R&D tax incentive 249,976 517,380

Prepayments 511,435 1,224,146

Loan commitment asset (i) - 1,033,319

761,411 2,774,845

The following tables explain how significant changes in the gross carrying amount of the trade receivables contributed to changes in 
the loss allowance:

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of continuing operations was $8,285,171 (2021: $5,759,779). 
There were no write-downs of inventory to net realiseable value included within the cost of inventories recognised as an expense during 
the year.

The equity holding in all companies is 100%. These investments have been eliminated on consolidation.

Further information about the composition of the Group and transactions has been disclosed within note 27.

(i) Loan commitment asset

The loan commitment comprises of transaction cost in relation to the second tranche of the loan facility obtained from Pure Asset 
Management Pty Ltd. Refer note 19 on the details for the facility obtained.

13. SUBSIDIARIES
Information about the composition of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Unlisted controlled entity

Date of 
acquisition or 
incorporation

County of 
incorporation Class of shares

Cost of Parent 
Entity’s 

Investment

Cost of Parent 
Entity’s 

Investment

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

MGM Wireless Holdings Pty Ltd 08/10/2003 Australia Ordinary 767,000 767,000

Message You LLC 11/09/2006 USA Ordinary 124,440 124,440

MGM Wireless (NZ) Pty Ltd 18/05/2010 Australia Ordinary 80 80

Spacetalkwatch UK Ltd 25/02/2019 United Kingdom Ordinary 186 186

Spacetalk Holdings Pty Ltd 29/06/2015 Australia Ordinary 1 1

Sapcetalk USA Pty Ltd 29/06/2015 Australia Ordinary 100 100

Spacetalk LLC 29/04/2021 USA Ordinary 1,340 1,340

Spacetalk Inc 29/04/2021 USA Ordinary 1,340 1,340

894,487 894,487
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment
Leasehold 

improvements Total

$ $ $

Cost

Balance at 30 June 2020 414,327 211,979 626,306

Additions 52,515 1,364 53,879

Balance at 30 June 2021 466,842 213,343 680,185

Additions 51,947 4,258 56,205

Balance at 30 June 2022 518,789 217,601 736,370

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 30 June 2020 (316,391) (127,184) (443,575)

Depreciation expense (22,188) (8,511) (30,699)

Balance at 30 June 2021 (338,579) (135,695) (474,274)

Depreciation expense (32,100) (8,045) (40,145)

Balance at 30 June 2022 (370,679) (143,740) (514,419)

Written Down Value 30 June 2021 128,263 77,648 205,911

Written Down Value 30 June 2022 148,110 73,861 221,971

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

At cost 21,240,854 17,951,941

Accumulated amoritsation and impairment (17,472,057) (14,010,721)

Carrying value 3,768,797 3,941,220

Distribution Rights
Capitalised 

Development Costs Total

Cost $ $ $

Balance at 30 June 2020 441,017 14,513,284 14,954,301

Additions from internal developments - 2,997,640 2,997,640

Balance at 30 June 2021 441,017 17,510,924 17,951,941

Additions from internal developments -   3,288,913 3,288,913 

Balance at 30 June 2022 441,017 20,799,837 21,240,854

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 30 June 2020 (308,707) (10,932,590) (11,241,297)

Amortisation (44,100) (2,725,324) (2,769,424)

Balance at 30 June 2021 (352,807) (13,657,914) (14,010,721)

Amortisation (44,100) (3,417,236) (3,461,336)

Balance at 30 June 2022 (396,907) (17,075,150) (17,472,057)

Carrying Value 30 June 2022 44,110 3,724,687 3,768,797

The useful life of ‘Distribution Rights‘ is 10 years. Due to the nature of the projects developed in the current period, Capitalised cost has 
been amortised over a useful life of 3 years.

Distribution rights have arisen from the acquisition of territory rights from former distributors. These assets have provided the Company 
the right to operate in the respective territories. 

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Trade payables 3,711,385 1,744,968

Indirect tax liability 229,297 171,275

Accrued SMS charges 36,219 28,105

3,976,901 1,944,348

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit 
period taken for trade purchases is 22 days. For most suppliers no interest is charged on the trade payables for the first day from the 
date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged on the outstanding balances at various interest rates. The Group has financial risk 
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.

The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and long service leave entitlements accrued.

17. PROVISIONS Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Employee benefits 581,001 418,494

18. LEASES
18.1 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET Building Vehicle Total

Cost $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2020 336,816 33,176 369,992

Additions 354,563 - 354,563

Balance at 30 June 2021 691,379 33,176 724,555

Additions - - -

Balance at 30 June 2022 691,379 33,176 724,555

Accumulated amortisation and impairment    

Balance at 1 July 2020 (211,668) (24,213) (235,881)

Amortisation (190,695) (8,963) (199,658)

Balance at 30 June 2021 (402,363) (33,176) (435,539)

Amortisation (184,964)  (184,964)

Balance at 30 June 2022 (587,327) (33,176) (620,503)

Carrying Value 30 June 2022 104,052 - 104,052

18.2 LEASE LIABILITES Group Year ending

30/6/2022 30/06/2021

Maturity analysis

Less than one year 111,254 197,578

1 to 5 years - 111,254

111,254 308,832

Less: unearned interest (1,950) (15,989)

109,304 292,843

Analysed as:

Current 109,304 183,539

Non-current - 109,304

Balance as at 30 June 109,304 292,843
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20. WARRANTS Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Warrants liabilities 1,865,495 2,409,725

21. ISSUED CAPITAL

21.1 ISSUED AND PAID UP CAPITAL Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Ordinary shares, fully paid 28,064,477 18,686,099

(30 June 2022: 216,355,749, 30 June 2021: 165,381,445)

21.2 FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES Group Year Ending

Number of shares Share capital $

$

Balance as at 30 June 2021 165,381,445 141,750,051

Share purchase plan 7,879,040 23,256,425 

Capital Raising 42,105,264   285,000 

Employee retention rights to issue 990,000 89,969

Balance at 30 June 2022 216,355,749 165,381,445

In March 2021, the Company entered into a facility agreement with Pure Asset Management Pty Ltd (Pure AM) for a total of $5 million that 
is drawn in 2 tranches. The first tranche of $3 million was drawn in March 21. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company drew 
down the second tranche of $2 million.

The loan agreement is subject to covenant clauses, whereby the Company is required to meet certain key financial ratios failing which 
the lender can  request  repayment.

As part of this facility, the Company has issued a warrant to Pure AM that can be exercised for a total of 11 million fully paid-up shares. 
The warrant can be exercised at any point of time up to 48 months of the first drawdown. The warrants were issued at zero cost, so the 
fair value of the warrants is deducted from loan from Pure Am (debt liability), propotionately allocated between trache one and tranche 
two. These warrants are recognised as fair value using the Black Sholes model. 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the 
proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares entitle 
their holders to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Group.

(i) Employee incentive option plan

Information relating to Spacetalk Limited option plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year 
and options outstanding at the end of the reporting period is detailed in note 26.

19. BORROWINGS Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

Current $ $

Term loan 3,077,683 -

Non-current

Term loan - 1,538,126
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22. RESERVES Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Option issue reserve 6,816,803 6,485,655

Foreign currency translation reserve (317,925) (42,910)

6,498,878 6,442,745

Option issue 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$ $

Balance as at 30 June 2020 6,216,746 (31,029)

Options issued 268,909 -

Currency tranlation differences - (11,881)

Balance as at 30 June 2021 6,485,655 (42,910)

Options issued 331,148 -

Currency translation differences - (275,015)

Balance as at 30 June 2022 6,816,803   (317,925)

Nature and purpose of reserve

The option issue reserve is used to accumulate amounts received on the issue of options and records items recognised as expenses 
on valuation of incentive based share options.

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange rate differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries and are recognised directly in the total comprehensive Income for the year.

23. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been declared in respect of the 2022 financial year. (2021: Nil)

Due to the R&D tax incentives taken up by the group, dividends paid during the 2014 to 2016 financial years were unfranked. It is 
anticipated that as long as the Group is entitled to the R&D tax incentive future dividends will also be unfranked.

24. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

24.1 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maximise the return to shareholders and ensure that the group can fund its 
operations and continue as a going concern.

Management effectively manages the group’s capital by assessing the group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in 
response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of expenditure and debt levels and 
share and option issues.

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control capital of the group since the prior year.F
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24.2 GEARING RATIO Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

The gearing ratio at end of the period was as follows $ $

Lease liabilities 109,304 183,539

Borrowings 3,077,683 1,538,126

Warrant liability 1,865,495 2,409,726

Net Debt 5,052,482 4,131,391

Equity 12,485,146 9,351,545

Net debt to equity ratio 40.5% 44.2%

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash and short-term deposits. The Group manages its 
exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policy. The objective of the policy is to support 
the delivery of the Group’s financial targets while protecting future financial security.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The 
Group does not speculate in the trading of derivative instruments. The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different 
types of risks to which it is exposed. These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates and assessments of market forecasts for 
interest rates. Ageing analysis of and monitoring of receivables are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through 
the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Board. The Board reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of the risks identified below, including for interest rate risk, credit allowances and cash flow forecast projections.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s exposure to risks of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s cash balances. The Company 
constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of existing positions, 
alternative financing positions and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates.

Its exposure to interest rate movements is limited to the amount of interest income it can potentially earn on surplus cash deposits. The 
following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance sheet date.

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Cash and cash equivalents (interest-bearing accounts) 5,577,088 4,158,033

Net exposure 5,577,088 4,158,033
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The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of the 
reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the table below illustrates the effect on 
post tax profit and equity of the change in cost relevant to the financial assets of the Group:

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has established an appropriate liquidity 
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short- medium- and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by;

•	 monitoring immediate and forecast cash requirements and ensuring adequate cash reserves are maintained,

•	 continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and 

•	 matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectations.

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows within the 2022  
financial period.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements approximate their fair values.

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Post tax profit – higher/(lower) 5,460 861

(5,460) (861)

Equity – higher/(lower) 5,460 861

(5,460) (861)

  Group Year Ended

  30/06/2022 30/06/2021

  $ $
Less than 1 year    

Financial assets

Cash & cash equivalent 5,577,088 4,185,033

Trade and other receivables 3,590,949 2,218,826

Loan commitment - 1,033,319

9,168,039 7,437,178

Financial liabilities    

Trade payables 3,711,385 1,744,968

Borrowings 3,077,683 293,589

Lease liabilities 109,304 183,539

Indirect tax liability 229,297 171,275

7,127,669 2,393,371

Between 1-5 years    

Financial liabilities    

Borrowings - 1,244,537

Warrants 1,865,495 2,409,725

Lease liabilities - 109,304

1,865,495 3,763,566

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



58

FINANCIAL REPORT

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Company, which 
comprise deposits with banks and trade and other receivables. 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential 
default of the counter party, with the maximum exposure equal to 
the carrying amount of these instruments. The carrying amount 
of financial assets included in the Statement of Financial Position 
represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in 
relation to those assets.

The Company does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its 
credit exposure.

The Company trades only with recognised, credit worthy third 
parties and as such collateral is not requested nor is it the 
Company’s policy to securitise it trade and other receivables.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Company does not have a significant exposure to 
bad debts. Trade and other receivables are expected to have a 
maturity of less than 12 months, for both year-ends.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the 
Company.

Foreign currency risk

As a result of operations in the USA, being denominated in USD, 
operations in New Zealand being denominated in NZD, and 
Operations in the United Kingdom being denominated in GBP, 
the Group’s balance sheet can be affected by movements in the 
respective AUD exchange rates. The Company does not hedge 
this exposure.

In the reporting period the Groups volume of transactions in USD, 
NZ and GBP currency was low and immaterial for the year ended 
30 June 2022.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by constantly 
reviewing its exposure to commitments payable in foreign currency 
and ensuring appropriate cash balances are maintained in USD, 
NZD and GBP, to meet current operational commitments.

Management believes the balance date risk exposures are 
representative of the risk exposure inherent in financial instruments.

Fair value

The methods of estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant 
notes to the financial statements. All financial assets and liabilities 
recognised in the Statement of financial position, whether they 
are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts 
that represent a reasonable approximation of fair values unless 
otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

26.1 Employee Share Option Plan

The Group has an ownership-based compensation plan for 
executives and senior employees and contractors. In accordance 
with the terms of the plan executives, senior employees and 
contractors may be granted options to purchase ordinary shares. 
Each share option converts into one ordinary share of Sapcetalk 
Limited on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the 
recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights 
to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any 
time from the date of their vesting to the date of their expiry.

There were no options granted during the current financial year 
(2021: nil).

26.2 Long Term Incentive Rights

The Group has a share based incentive plan for senior employees 
and contracts. Each right converts into one ordinary share of 
Sapcetalk Ltd upon vesting. No amounts are paid or payable by 
the recipient on receipt of the rights.

There were 1,158,000 rights granted during the current financial 
year (2021: 8,300,000).
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During the financial year, the following share based arrangements were in existence:

Name Number Grant Date Expiry Date Grant Date  
Fair Value

Exercise  
price

Vesting Date

Granted 10 October 2019  3,000,000 10/10/19 30/6/22 $0.37 $0.55 Vest at date of grant

Granted 10 October 2019  3,000,000 10/10/19 30/6/22 $0.37 $0.65 Vest at date of grant

Granted 29 November 2019  1,300,000 29/11/19 30/4/23 $0.33 $0.70 Vest at date of grant

Granted 29 November 2019  1,300,000 29/11/19 30/4/23 $0.33 $0.90 Vest at date of grant

Employee incentive right 1  20,000 9/6/20 9/6/22 $0.14 $0.00 9/6/22

Employee incentive right 2  20,000 9/6/20 9/6/22 $0.14 $0.00 9/6/22

Employee incentive right 3  5,000 9/6/20 9/6/22 $0.14 $0.00 9/6/22

Employee incentive right 4  60,000 11/9/20 11/8/22 $0.16 $0.00 11/8/22

Employee incentive right 5  60,000 11/9/20 11/8/23 $0.16 $0.00 11/8/23

Employee incentive right 6  5,000 31/8/20 31/8/22 $0.15 $0.00 31/8/22

Employee incentive right 7  150,000 9/6/21 11/8/22 $0.16 $0.00 11/8/22

Employee incentive right 8  50,000 9/8/19 17/3/23 $0.43 $0.00 17/3/23

Employee incentive right 9  25,000 9/6/21 17/3/23 $0.16 $0.00 17/3/23

Employee incentive right 10  150,000 9/6/21 11/8/23 $0.16 $0.00 11/8/23

Employee incentive right 11  150,000 9/6/21 11/8/24 $0.16 $0.00 11/8/24

Employee incentive right 12  100,000 9/6/21 30/6/22 $0.16 $0.00 30/6/22

Employee incentive right 13  100,000 9/6/21 30/6/23 $0.16 $0.00 30/6/23

Employee incentive right 14  20,000 1/3/21 17/2/23 $0.11 $0.00 17/2/23

Employee incentive right 15  50,000 9/6/21 17/3/23 $0.16 $0.00 17/3/23

Employee incentive right 16  20,000 1/3/21 17/2/23 $0.11 $0.00 17/2/23

Employee incentive right 17  5,000,000 1/3/21 1/12/23 $0.13 $0.00 1/12/23

Employee incentive right 18  375,000 1/3/21 1/12/23 $0.13 $0.00 1/12/23

Employee incentive right 19  500,000 1/3/21 1/12/23 $0.13 $0.00 1/12/23

Employee incentive right 20  200,000 14/5/21 1/5/23 $0.16 $0.00 1/5/23

Employee incentive right 21  30,000 28/3/22 17/2/23 $0.12 $0.00 17/2/23

Employee incentive right 22  30,000 28/3/22 28/3/23 $0.12 $0.00 28/3/23

Employee incentive right 23  200,000 15/12/21 24/11/22 $0.18 $0.00 24/11/22

Employee incentive right 24  200,000 15/12/21 24/11/23 $0.18 $0.00 24/11/23

Employee incentive right 25  200,000 15/12/21 24/11/24 $0.18 $0.00 24/11/24

Employee incentive right 26  150,000 24/1/22 28/2/23 $0.17 $0.00 28/2/23

Employee incentive right 27  30,000 31/8/21 1/9/22 $0.21 $0.00 1/9/22

Employee incentive right 28  8,000 1/3/22 24/2/24 $0.14 $0.00 24/2/24

Employee incentive right 29  30,000 28/3/22 24/2/24 $0.12 $0.00 24/2/24

Employee incentive right 30  5,000 28/3/22 24/2/24 $0.12 $0.00 24/2/24

Employee incentive right 31  100,000 21/4/22 27/8/23 $0.11 $0.00 27/8/23

Employee incentive right 32  5,000 1/3/22 24/2/24 $0.14 $0.00 24/2/24

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

As at 1 July 22,470,000 20,307,500

Granted during the year 1,158,000 8,300,000

Exercised during the year (920,000) (285,000)

Lapsed/forfeited during the year (12,090,000) (5,852,500)

As at 30 June 10,618,000 22,470,000

The following table outlines the share options on issue and movements during the reporting periods presented: 
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Share options outstanding at the end of the year had a weighted average exercise price of $0.34 (2021: $0.43) The average remaining 
contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 0.83 years (2021: 1.08). 

26.3 Fair Value of share options granted during the year

There were no options and 1,158,000 incentive rights granted during the year (2021: nil options and 8,300,00 incentive rights). The 
weighted average fair value of the share options and employee rights granted during the financial year is $0.16 (2021: $0.14) the valuation 
model inputs used to determine the fair value as at grant date were as follows:

Grant Date Expiry 
Date

Share 
price at 

grant date

Exercise 
price

Expected 
volatility

Option life Dividend 
yield

Fair value 
at grant 

date

Number  
of options

Vesting 
date

28/3/22 17/2/23 $0.12 $0.00 82.9% 0.64 Years 0.00% $0.12  30,000 17/2/23

28/3/22 28/3/23 $0.12 $0.00 82.9% 0.74 Years 0.00% $0.12  30,000 28/3/23

15/12/21 24/11/22 $0.18 $0.00 93.3% 0.40 Years 0.00% $0.18  200,000 24/11/22

15/12/21 24/11/23 $0.18 $0.00 93.3% 1.40 Years 0.00% $0.18  200,000 24/11/23

15/12/21 24/11/24 $0.18 $0.00 93.3% 2.41 Years 0.00% $0.18  200,000 24/11/24

24/1/22 28/2/23 $0.17 $0.00 91.2% 0.67 Years 0.00% $0.17  300,000 28/2/23

31/8/21 1/9/22 $0.21 $0.00 98.5% 0.17 Years 0.00% $0.21  30,000 1/9/22

1/3/22 24/2/24 $0.14 $0.00 89.0% 1.65 Years 0.00% $0.14  8,000 24/2/24

28/3/22 24/2/24 $0.12 $0.00 82.9% 1.65 Years 0.00% $0.12  30,000 24/2/24

28/3/22 24/2/24 $0.12 $0.00 82.9% 1.65 Years 0.00% $0.12  5,000 24/2/24

21/4/22 27/8/23 $0.11 $0.00 81.3% 1.16 Years 0.00% $0.11  100,000 27/8/23

1/3/22 24/2/24 $0.14 $0.00 89.0% 1.65 Years 0.00% $0.14  5,000 24/2/24

The Group recognised total expense of $503,373 (2021:$330,037) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions during 
the financial year.

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

27.1 Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Spacetalk Limited and the subsidiaries that are listed in the 
table in Note 13.

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated 
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed 
below. Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are accounted for at cost. Dividends received from subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures are recognised in profit or loss when a right to receive the dividend is established (provided that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Parent and the amount of income can be measured reliably). 
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Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Financial position

Assets

Current assets  -    -   

Non-current assets 20,253,042 10,874,664

Total assets 20,253,042 10,874,664

Liabilities

Current liabilities  -    -   

Non-current liabilities  -    -   

Total liabilities  -    -   

Net assets 20,253,042 10,874,664

Equity

Issued capital 28,064,477 18,686,099

Retained earnings (7,811,435) (7,811,435)

Total equity 20,253,042 10,874,664

Financial performance

Loss for the year  -   -

Other comprehensive income  -   -

Total comprehensive income  -   -

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. There are no guarantees entered into in relation to 
debt for any subsidiaries.

27.2 Parent entity disclosure

Spacetalk Limited is the ultimate Australian parent entity and the ultimate parent of the Group. The accounting policies of the parent 
entity, which have been applied in determining the financial information shown below, are the same as those applied in the consolidated 
financial statements except as set out below. See note 3 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to the Group.

The following is financial information about the parent entity required by Regulation 2M.3.01 of the Corporations Act 2001:
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27.3 Tax consolidation

The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are members of a tax consolidated group under Australian tax law. The 
company is the head entity within the tax consolidated group. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the company also 
recognises the current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits of the 
members of the tax-consolidated group. 

Amounts payable or receivable under the tax-funding arrangement between the company and the entities in the tax consolidated group 
are determined using a ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach to determine the tax contribution amounts payable or receivable by 
each member of the tax-consolidated group. This approach results in the tax effect of transactions being recognised in the legal entity 
where that transaction occurred, and does not tax effect transactions that have no tax consequences to the group. The same basis is 
used for tax allocation within the tax-consolidated group.

27.4 Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 28.

27.5 Other equity interests

There are no equity interests in associates, joint ventures or other related parties.

27.6 Transactions with related parties

During the 2022 financial year $108,555 was paid to a family relative of Mark Fortunatow for accounting and administration services 
(2021: $97,046). 

During the 2022 financial year $22,000 was paid to Brandon Gien for consulting fees (2021: $24,000). Good Design is a related entity to 
Brandon Gien.

During the 2022 financial year nil was paid to Martin Pretty for consulting fees (2021: $4,797). Equatable Investors is a related entity of 
Martin Pretty.

The terms and conditions of the transactions with Directors and Director-related entities were no more favourable than those available, 
or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-Director related entities on an arm’s length basis.

28. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

28.1 Compensation of key management personnel

The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Company and the Group is 
set out below:

Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

$ $

Short-term  897,074  717,514 

Post Employment  89,676  66,217 

Benefits and Entitlements  163,296  175,031 

Share-based payment  401,646  160,029 

 1,551,692 1,118,791

28.2 Loans with key management personnel

There were no loans to key management personnel or their related entities during the current or previous financial year.
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29. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS Group Year Ending

30/06/2022 30/06/2021

Audit and review of financial statements of Group by: $ $

- Ian G McDonald $26,000 27,000

30. COMPANY DETAILS

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:

Suite 13 The Parks 
154 Fullarton Road 
Rose Park SA 5067

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Pure Asset Management loan agreement is subject to covenant clauses, whereby the Company is required to meet certain key 
financial ratios as at December 31, 2022. Given this requirement, the Company has concluded it does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date. Advice has been received from the financier that it intends to 
discuss with the Board the restructuring of the existing covenants well ahead of any potential 31 December 2022 breach. Notwithstanding 
this, Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 requires the borrowing to be reclassified from non-current to current. Refer to Note 19 for 
details on borrowings.

32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The finanical statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 September 2022.

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share. Each member present in person, or by proxy, representative or attorney, has one vote 
on a show of hands and one vote per share on a poll for each share held. Each member is entitled to notice of, and to attend and vote 
at, general meetings. Options do not carry a right to vote. 

ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES (TOTAL)

RANGE OF UNITS AS OF 09/09/2022

Range Total holders Units % Units

1 – 1,000 95 19,759 0.01

1,001 - 5,000 326 1,074,852 0.49

5,001 – 10,000 246 1,982,943 0.91

10,001 – 100,000 707 26,434,091 12.14

100,001 Over 282 188,244,104 86.45

Rounding 0.00

Total 1,656 217,755,749 100.00

Unmarketable Parcels

Minimum Parcel Size Holders Units

Minimum $ 500.00 parcel at $ 0.0660 per unit 7,576 523 1,737,120
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TOP HOLDERS (GROUPED) AS OF 09/09/2022

Rank Name Units % of units

1 MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 22,602,015 10.38

2 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 20,162,826 9.26

3 MRS PAULA FORTUNATOW <A M & J M A/C> 8,077,780 3.71

4 I-HOLDINGS PTY LTD <FORTUNATOW FAM SF A/C> 5,982,710 2.75

5 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 5,587,985 2.57

6 MR CHRISTOPHER JAMES CAMERON 4,800,000 2.20

7 MR STANISLAV MICHAEL KOLENC 4,397,903 2.02

8 MRS PAULA FORTUNATOW + MR MARK FORTUNATOW 4,285,000 1.97

9 MR NOEL GEORGE HURD 4,000,000 1.84

10 YAVERN CREEK HOLDINGS PTY LTD 3,350,000 1.54

11
MR PETER COSSETTO + MRS ANNAMARIA STEFANIA COSSETTO  
<COSSETTO FAMILY SUPER A/C> 2,800,000 1.29

12 RYANU SERVICES PTY LTD <RYANU FAMILY A/C> 2,524,710 1.16

13 MR SAVVAS IOANNOU + MRS MARIA IOANNOU 2,292,314 1.05

14 MR STEPHEN LEIGH FELSTEAD 2,137,898 0.98

15
DR PRIYA AMARA SELVA-NAYAGAM + DR CRAIG LLOYD JAMES  
<THE JAMES SUPER FUND A/C> 1,792,962 0.82

16 MR JARROD MORGAN COOK 1,777,817 0.82

17 MR IAN JAMES CAMERON 1,749,412 0.80

18 MR BRENDAN JON TURNBULL 1,719,040 0.79

19 MR CHARLES MORPHY 1,597,420 0.73

20 MR PAUL RICHARD COOPER 1,588,920 0.73

Totals: Top 20 holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES (Total) 103,226,712 47.40

Total Remaining Holders Balance 114,529,037 52.60

ADDITIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION AS AT 9 SEPTEMBER 2022

Unlisted options

Expiry date 26/3/2025 30/4/2023 30/4/2023

Exercise price $0.2169 $0.7000 $0.9000

Total Options Issued 1 warrant that can be 
exercised for a total of 

11,000,000 shares

Number of holders 1 2 2

Holders with more than 20%

Mark Fortunatow 1,250,000 1,250,000F
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Restricted securities

There are no restricted securities. 

On-market buy-back

Currently there is no on-market buyback of the Company‘s securities.

Company Secretary

Ms Kim Clark

Registered Office and Principal Administration Office

Suite 13 The Parks 
154 Fullarton Avenue  
Rose Park SA 5067 
Telephone (08) 8104 9555

Share Registry

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Level 5, 115 Grenfell Street 
Adelaide SA 5000 
Ph 1300 556 161 
(08) 9415 4000 
F 1300 534 087 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y


